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FOREWORD

On the occasion of its Jubilee I wish to congratulate the Institution
of Post Office Electrical Engincers on the achievements of the
past go years and to thank all who have contributed to this success.
The cumulative value of its work and meetings at the various
centres must now be very great, both to the Post Office and to
the membership.

The Journal has proved its value as an interesting educational
medium and provides a detailed history of the engineering develop-
ment of the Post Office over nearly go years. Throughout we
have enjoyed the support and friendliness of our Administration
and of Industry.

Your first president, Sir John Gavey, C.B., would indeed be
proud of the stature the Institution has reached and he too would
have wished me to thank the many thousands who have contributed
to the fulfilment of his hopes.

The Jubilee occurs at an appropriate time in the history and
progress of telecommunications; world cable telephony, subscriber
trunk dialling, automatic telex, electronic switching and the
mechanization of office processes are all in various stages of
implementation, and offer stimulating problems to the members
of the Institution at the commencement of its second half-century.

We "begin this phase without misgivings and confident that the
Institution will continue to fll its role in the widening interests
of the Post Office and also in the progress of what many of us
consider to be the most interesting branch of the most interesting
of professions.
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Fifty Years of the Institution of Post Office Electrical Engineers

The Institution of Post Office Electrical Engineers was founded in 1906 ‘‘to promote the general advancement of electrical and telegraphic
science and its applications, and to facilitate the exchange of information and ideas on these subjects amongst the members of the

Institution, and for this purpose:—

(a) To hold meetings for reading and discussing commumcatlons,
(b) To print and circulate among the members such communications as the Council may deem worthy,
and (c) To form a Library of books, publications and manuscripts . . .””

The present Rules contain some amphﬁcatlon of the terms employed in 1906, but the essential principles have remained unchanged

throughout the lifetime of the Institution.

In an endeavour to do justice to the many aspects of the Instltutlon s work, this article has been divided into self—contamed sections dealing
with specific actmtlw, preceded by notes concerning the foundation perlod and containing some details concerning organization
and membership.

THE FOUNDATION YEARS
“The Historical Background.

HE circumstances attending the establishment
of the Institution are summarized in a paragraph
of the first Annual Report of Council, as follows:—

“In April 1905, the Engineers, realizing that the time
had come when individual study should be assisted by a
co-operative movement, formed the ‘Society of Post
Office Engineers,” by means of which facilities were (to be)
provided not only for the purchase of standard electrical
works, but also for the discussion of the various problems
which arise in connexion with the work of the Post
Office Engineering Department. A circular, indicating
the aims and objects of the Society, was issued and at
once arrested the attention of the (Headquarters)
Department, with the result that a liberal grant-in-aid
was secured from the Treasury, and, with an enlarged
membership and somewhat wider scope, the present
Institution was established.”

It is clear from the Draft Rules (May 1905) of the Society
of Post Office Engineers that great interest was focused by
the members on the technical aspect of that Society, since
the objects outlined included provision for the holding of
meetings for reading and discussing papers bearing on
telegraphy and telephony, printing and publication of
reports of the proceedings, and the establishment of a
library on electrical telegraph or telephone science. The
fact that the Society of Post Office Engineers proposed
to have two sides to its organization, one educational and
the other as advisory on all matters relating to staff
welfare, was clearly a source of concern to the Department,
who considered that technical matters and mattersinvolving
conditions of service should be separated. Sir John Gavey,
C.B., Engineer-in-Chief to the Post Office, put this view to
representatives of the Society on 17th May, 1905, and at the
same time outlined a tentative scheme for organizing the
technical side on much more comprehensive lines than the
Society could hope to achieve, in which the Department,
with the assistance of the staff, would organize a purely
technical society. A capital sum of not less than £500
would be made available immediately for a technical library,
and an annual sum of £250 for technical journals and other
expenses. These proposals were favourably received, and
at a further meeting of London and Provincial Engineers,
on 9th June, 1905, Sir John Gavey announced that the
Postmaster-General had approved the establishment of a
Technical Institution, and that the Treasury had sanctioned
the financial proposals outlined earlier. The delegates
present then suggested that the staff should be allowed to
augment, by subscription, the funds provided by the
Department, a proposal which was welcomed by Sir John
Gavey. On the same evening, at a well-attended meeting
of London staff and Irovincial delegates, the proposals
,regarding the Technical Institution were cordially accepted,
as was a motion that the staff should contribute to the
funds. Representatives were also elected to serve on an

Organizing Committee to be set up to “take in hand the
organization of the proposed Technical Institution and the
formulation of Rules.”

In the event, therefore, the Society of Post Office
Engineers never actually developed its proposed technical
side, and at no time has the Institution been controlled
by the Department, since it was established during the
deliberations of the Organizing Committee, in a note from
Sir John Gavey, that “it is intended that the Institution as
a whole should be absolutely self-governed.” In the early
years the annual grant-in-aid of £250 received by the
Institution from the Department was about equal to the
sum raised from members’ subscriptions, but by 1952 this
grant represented only one-seventeenth of the subscription
income. The increased grant of £1,000 received since 1953
now represents about one-fifth of members’ subscriptions.

The Organizing Committee (sometimes referred to as the
Formation Committee) held its first meeting on 10th
October, 1965, and comprised a Chairman (Mr. G. M. Carr,
Superintending Engineer, nominated by the Engineer-in-
Chief) and eight members elected by and from thg staff
concerned (four from London, four from the provincial
districts). Further meetings were held in January and
February 1906, and in March 1906 a comprehensive
memorandum describing the aims and objects of the
proposed Institution, and draft rules, were distributed to
the potential members, together with application forms
for membership of the Institution, and nomination forms
for the election of Members of Council, Local Committees,
and Treasurer and Secretary.

The final meeting of the Formation Committee was held
on 6th June, 1906, and the first formal Council Meeting
followed.

The Inaugural Session.

The records held by the Institution indicate that, whilst
the Organizing Committee, which established so well the
foundations upon which the Institution has since grown,
began its labours in October 1905, it was not until 6th June,
1906, that the first formally constituted Council Meeting
was held. At this meeting the President, Sir John Gavey,
C.B., took the chair for the first item on the agenda,
namely, “Formal Inauguration of the Institution by the
President.” Subsequently the chair was taken by Mr. G. M.
Carr, first Chairman of Council, who had previously acted
in the capacity of Chairman of the Organizing Committee.

The scope of the Institution’s activities in its first year
of operation was remarkably extensive. The Central
Lending Library came into effective operation in July,
1906, when an initial catalogue was circulated, and 860
issues had been made by the end of the session. Sixteen
reference libraries were established under the supervision
of Local Centre Secretaries, and circulation of technical
periodicals commenced. Furthermore, no less than 40
meetings were held at 12 Local Centres, at which papers
were read and discussed, including six at the London (then
Metropolitan) Centre. At the first London Centre meeting,
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on 8th October, 1906, Mr. R. Mcllroy presented a paper on
“The Telegraph Acts.” The membership at the end of the
session totalled 755.

It is in the light of the above summary that the following
remarks by Sir John Gavey at the first Annual General
Meeting, after the presentation of the first Annual Report
of Council, should be read:—

“I congratulate most heartily the Institution of Post
Office Electrical Engineers on the excellent results of their
work, first as to the numbers of members enrolled, and next
as to the excellence and the great variety of papers that have
been read. I think that for a new Institution, scattered
as are its members over the whole of the United Kingdom,
the result of your work is little short of marvellous. J think
I may say that when the original Society of Telegraph
Engineers was established in the year 1871—a Society that
was supported by all the leading electrical engineers of
those days, a Society that had the advantages of having
all its members gathered in the Metropolis—I think I am
right in saying that they did not do such good work in their
first year as you and your colleagues in the first year of this
Institution.”

ORGANIZATION
An outline follows of the basic organization of the
Institution, with brief reference to the major changes that
have occurred.

Officers and Council.

The affairs of the Institution are conducted by a Council,
of which the Chairman and Vice-Chairman are nominated
by the President of the Institution (the Engineer-in-Chief of
the Post Office) and the other officers, including the Honorary
Treasurer, are nominated and elected by the members;
representation is by Departmental grades, and is to some
extent territorial. The Secretary, the Librarian, and their
assistants are nominated by Council.-

At its inception the Council numbered 14, including
10 elected members. The number has been increased
from time to time, to ensure adequate representation, and
is now 22, including 19 elected members.

Local Centres and Commitlees.

From the beginning, Local Centres have been established
to conduct the executive work of the Institution; responsi-
bility being vested in the Local Committees for the working
of each such Centre, for all arrangements connected
with the preparation of the annual program of meetings,
and for the observance of the rules of the Institution.

London Centre.

The London Centre initially served ‘“‘the staff of the
Engineer-in-Chief’s Office, and the Metropolitan Engineer-
ing Districts (including the Southern District of England).”
The Local Committee consisted of a Chairman and Vice-
Chairman, nominated annually by the Engineer-in-Chief,
and 10 elected members, from whom the Honorary Local
Secretary was elected by the Committee.

To-day the London Centre serves members in the same
geographical area, but to take account of Regionalization
and other changes in Post Office organization it is now
defined as follows:—“Members of the Engineering Depart-
ment, the External Telecommunications Executive, the
London Regions, and members from the Brighton,
Tunbridge Wells and Canterbury Areas of the Home
Counties Region, known as the ‘South Eastern Group'.”
To provide adequate representation for the vastly increased
membership, the Committee now consists of a Chairman
and Vice-Chairman, nominated annually by the Engineer-
in-Chief; an Honorary Local Secretary, with a minimum of
three assistants, elected by the members; and 14 elected
members of committee. -

Provincial Centres.

In 1908 a Local Centre was established in each Provincial
Engineering District, the Committee consisting in each
instance of the Superintending Engineer and Assistant
Superintending Engineer, as Chairman and Vice-Chairman,
respectively, supported by four elected members, from
whom the Honorary Local Secretary was elected by the
Committee. In the inaugural session 13 such centres were
formed, and the Provincial organization remained in general

Standing:—G. Turwner, L. R. Haacrave, W. R. Wickens, G. A. ProBert, W. H. Fox, F. W. ]J. WeBBer, B. R. HorsrieLn, R. H. vE Warbpr,
R. F. WaALDEGRAVE, J. Bass, T. A. WaiGur, A. H. C. Knox and K. W. DutTon.

Scated:—R. W. ParL.MER, A. F. Sturces, H. E. WiLcocksoN (Secretary), D. A. Barron (Chairman), R. E. Joxgs, M.B.E. (Hunorary Treasurer), G. S. BERKELEY
and H. M. TURNER.

OFFICERS AND MEMBERs oF Councir, 1956-57,

154



on a District basis until the experimental regionalization
of the Post Office services was introduced. As a conse-
quence, it was necessary in 1935 to reframe the Rules,
primarily to safeguard the membership rights of those
employed on the Engineering side of the Regional organiza-
tion. The existing local-centre organization was, however,
retained as far as practicable, and Regional Co-ordinating
Committees were set up in those Regions containing more
than one Provincial Centre (e.g. in the North-Eastern
Region, which incorporated, broadly, the original Northem
and North-Eastern Centres). This process of adjustment

* was repeated in the early war years, when regionalization

P

of the Post Office was brought into full effect, and in the
1940-41 Annual Report it is recorded that “‘rearrangements
of Centres where necessary to conform with the Regional
organization have been completed.” The number of such
Local Centres was then 15, and has remained unchanged.

In 1922, following the admission of Inspectors and Estab-
lished Draughtsmen to Institution Corporate  Membership,
the number of elected members in each Local Centre
Committee was increased from four to five, and a further
increase from five to six was made in 1926, when these
grades were given separate representation. To-day each
Committee consists of a Chairman and Vice-Chairman (the
Chief Regional Engineer and a Regional Engineer, respect-
ively); an Honorary Local Secretary (with assistants as
necessary), elected by the members; and six elected
members of Committee.

MEMBERSHIP OF THE INSTITUTION
Conditions of Membership.

At the time of its foundation the Institution was ‘“‘open
to all officers of the Engineering Department of the Post
Office, from the Engineer-in-Chief to Sub-Engineers and
Clerks.” Revision of the rules has been necessary from time
to time to take account of expansion of the Post Office,
the creation of new engineering grades, regionalization of
Post Office services, and latterly the inclusion of certain
staffs of the Factories and Contracts Departments of the
Post Office. Membership is now open to all engineering,
technical and scientific officers in the Engineering, Fac-
tories and Contracts Establishments of the Post Office of
and above stated ranks (which, as a generalization, can be
equated to the Inspector grade of the Engineering Estab-
lishment), and to Higher Clerical Officers (or Executive
Officers) and above, who are employed in the Engineering
Department, in the Engineering Branch of Regional Head-
quarters, or on the engineering side of the Clerical Divisions
of Telephone Areas.

Honorary Membership,

In 1908 the Council ‘“deemed it desirable that there
should exist some means whereby officers retiring from the
Service may, at the discretion of the Council, be enabled
to continue in touch with the Institution and its work.
Sir John Gavey, C.B., and A. W. Heaviside, Esq., 1.S.0.,
have accordingly been elected Honorary Members.” In
1910, G. M. Carr, Esq., M.I.LE.E., was elected an Honorary
Member for his valuable services to the Institution, par-
ticularly as Chairman of the Formation Committee of the
Institution.

The current Rule (established in 1922, at which date
there were six Honorary Members) reads—'‘The Council
may elect a limited number of Honorary Members from
among persons whose services to the Institution have been
of an exceptional character.” The present number of
such members is 14, among them Sir W. Gordon Radley,
K.C.B., C.B.E,, Ph.D.(Eng.), M.I.LE.E., a past-President
of the Institution, and now the Director-General of the

SIR W. GorpoN RabpLEY, K.C.B,, C.B.E., Pu.D.(Enc.), M.LE.E.,
DIRECTOR-GENERAL OF THE I’0ST OFFICE—PRESIDENT OF THE
INSTITUTION, 1951-54.

Post Office. Another Honorary Member, elected in 1944,
is Mr. J. W. Atkinson, 1.5.0., M.ILE.E., who represents
a link with the past. He was closely associated with
all the activities leading to the formation of the Organizing
Committee, on which he also served as Secretary; he
then served as Secretary of the Institution from its
foundation until the end of the 1907-08 session, and
afterwards as member of Council, member of the Board
of Editors of the P.O.E.E. Journal, and as Honorary
Treasurer.

J. W. Atkinson, 1.5.0., M.I.LE.E.—FIR§T SECRETARY OF THE
InsTITUTION, 1806-08.
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Included also is the last officer to relinquish the post of
Secretary of the Institution, Col. ]J. Reading, M.B.E,,
E.R.D., B.Sc.(Eng.), M.LE.E., who held this office from
1935 to 1951. He also served as Managing Editor of the
P.O.E.E. Journal, Chairman of Council and Chairman of
the Board of Editors of the P.O.E.E. Journal.

CoL. J. REa»Ing, M.B.E_,E.R.D.,B.Sc.(ExG.),M.1.E.E.—SECRETARY
OF THE INsTITUTION, 1435-51; CrAIRMAN OF CouNcIL, 1954-55.

Corresponding Members.

In 1908 the rules were extended as follows:—*‘Officers
of Colonial and Foreign Telegraph and Telephone Adminis-
trations who are engaged in Electrical Engineering work
may be admitted as Colonial and Foreign Corresponding
Members, respectively, after application.” By 1914, 80
such members had been enrolled. The conditions for
corresponding membership were revised in 1924, sub-
stantially to the following form:—

Application for corresponding membership may be
made by the following: :

(a) By former corporate members of the Institution who
have left the service of the Post Office and are engaged
on any responsible work connected with electrical
communications.

(b) By officers engaged on electrical engineering work of
a responsible character, either in connexion with a
telecommunications service in the Commonwealth
countries or Colonial Territories, or in connexion with
telecommunications which are controlled by any
British Government Department other than the
Post Office.

(¢) By officers engaged in electrical engineering work of

a responsible character in connexion with a foreign

telegraph or telephone service.
The power to grant or terminate Corresponding
Membership may be exercised by the Chairman on
behalf of Council.

Every Corresponding Member is supplied with a copy of
the Post Office Electrical Engineers’ Journal, and of each
unrestricted issue of the Printed Papers of the Institution,
made during the Institution year.
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Membership Figures.

There were 755 members when the Institution was
founded in 1906; to-day there are 6,120.

An important criterion of the success of an organization
of the character of the Institution is the proportion of
eligible staff which it attracts as members, for only by
reaching a high proportion of such staff can it sérve
appropriately their ever-growing and changing technical
needs. At its formation the membership represented 70
per cent of those eligible, which is recorded as ‘‘exceeding
the sanguine expectation of the Organizing Committee.”
The present membership of 6,120 represents 74 per cent of
the eligible staff, and the Council is hopeful of achieving®
some further increase, even in this very satisfactory
performance.

The acquisition of the National Telephone Company’s
System, and the consequent transfer of staff to the Post
Office Engineering Department in the autumn of 1912, was
followed by an increase in membership from 854 to 940.
A still larger increase, to 1,336, in the following year was
attributable to the continuing enrolment of ex-N.T.C.
staff, and to the extension of membership to include the
grades of Senior Inspector, Inspector and probationary
sub-Engineer.

The outbreak of the First World War curbed the
activities of the Institution and the growth in membership,
but by the 1920-21 session a membership total of 1,469
was reached.

The continued grewth of the Engineering Department in
the period between the two World Wars was reflected in
the growth in membership to 4,400 at 31st March, 1939.
The highest yearly increase (526) occurred in 1937-38.

A further break in the expansion of the Institution
occurred during the Second World War, but in the last
decade the membership has increased steadily from 4,985
to 6,120.

INSTITUTION MEETINGS

The most important of the activities of the Institution
is the holding of meetings, normally seven in each session,
at each Local Centre. Papers are presented, mainly by
members of the Institution, on scientific, technical and
allied matters associated with the activities of the Post
Office, and opportunities are given for discussion. By these
meetings the Institution is able to give its members
interesting and valuable information of progress in the
telecommunications field.

The sessions of the Institution during which papers are
presented commence about lst October and terminate
about 30th April in each year. Council noted with satis-
faction in 1909 that the number of meetings in successive
sessions showed a steady rise from 40 in the first year, to
52 in the second, and to 56 in the session 1908-09, “a
number within measurable distance of that which would
be given were monthly meetings held throughout the
session in each of the twelve centres.” By 1913-14 a
notable increase, to 76 meetings during the session, had
taken place.

By 1922-23—after a period of curtailment due to the
war—the programs of meetings arranged by all centres
had reached almost pre-war proportions, with a total of 70
meetings. In 1926-27 the London Centre successfully
introduced a program of informal meetings, which still
remain a notable feature of the Centre’s activities. In the
Jast full session before the outbreak of the Second World
War the number of meetings at the 14 Local Centres
concerned had increased to 88.

The records for 1939-40 show that once again the impact
of war had its effect on the Institution’s activities, for “‘in
general, conditions throughout the country made the



holding of Centre meetings impracticable.” Subsequently
the abnormal conditions were alleviated by holding
meetings on an Area basis, and 100 meetings were held
in 1943-44, including seven informal meetings of the
London Centre.

In the immediate post-war years full programs of
Centre meetings were quickly re-established, and by the
1946-47 session there were 140 meetings at the 14 Centres
and 20 sub-Centres then functioning. The number of main
Centres has now increased to 15, with the amalgamation of
the Stoke & Stone sub-Centres, and the number of sub-
Centres has decreased to six. In recent sessions, with the
smaller number of sub-Centres, the number of meetings
held has been about 120.

The number of meetings held, and papers presented,
is not, of course, the sole criterion of the value of each
session’s proceedings. The range of the subject matter
covered (a matter for sclection by Local Centre Committees)
and the standard of the contributions (recognized by Council
in selection of papers for printing, and allocation of medal
awards) are of equal if not greater importance. Council are,
however, satisfied that the quotation below, extracted from
the first Annual Report, has been applicable throughout the
intervening years: ‘“The proceedings in every instance hav
attained a high level of excellence, not enly as regards the
papers themselves, but also the discussions thereon. The
experience already gained shows that no difficulty need be
anticipated in obtaining contributions of high quality, nor
does there appear to be a likelihood that papers will be
confined to any particular class of subject.”

INsTITUTION PRINTED PAPERS

A further important function of the Institution is the
publication of papers selected from those read before the
Centres. By this meauns the more important contributions
are not only made available as works of reference to the
entire membership, but also to all those interested in the
design, provision and operation of telecommunications
equipment and systems, including subscribers from the
Commonwealth and Dependencies, Foreign Administrations
and Industry.

At the first Annual General Meeting of the Institution it
was recorded ‘‘that many of the papers have reached such a
standard of excellence as, in the opinion of local committees,
to warrant their being printed and distributed to
members . . . three of these are still before the Council, but
the printing of the remaining five has been authorized.”
By the date of the second Annual General Meeting, no
fewer than 13 papers had been distributed, with a further
three papers approved for printing. The Council was also
able to record ‘“The benefits accruing from the publication
of selected papers . . . are very considerable, and it is
worthy of note that an increasingly large number of orders
is being received from non-members, including officers of
other Administrations and many of the prominent electrical
manufacturing firms.”

These Printed Papers have undoubtedly been maintained
at a high standard throughout the life of the Institution.
At the end of the 1955-5